IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CAPITAL POSTCONVICTION CASE

CASE NO. SC10-2471

PEDRO HERNANDEZ-ALBERTO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber Florida Bar No. 0330541 Maria Perinetti Florida Bar No. 0013837 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813 740 3544 Counsel for Appellant

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal of the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of a capital motion for postconviction relief. This Court has plenary jurisdiction over death penalty cases. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; *Orange County v. Williams*, 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rulings on requests for self representation are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Trease v. State*, 41 So. 3d 119, 124-25 (Fla. 2010). A trial court's decisions regarding competency are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Carter v. State*, 576 So.2d 1291, 1292 (Fla.1989). "Generally, this Court's standard of review following a denial of a postconviction claim where the trial court has conducted an evidentiary hearing affords deference to the trial court's factual findings. 'As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.' . . . However, the circuit court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo." *Nelson v. State*, 43 So.3d 20, 35 (Fla. 2010) (citations omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant, a citizen of Mexico legally residing in Florida, was arrested on January 4, 1999 for the murders of Donna Berezovsky and Isela Gonzales, his stepdaughters through his marriage to Carmen Gonzales. He was arrested in Brookshire, Texas, en route to Mexico. He was interrogated, confessed, and returned to Florida after a brief extradition hearing at which he was represented by appointed counsel. Neither the transcript of his interrogation nor the record of the extradition hearing reflects that he was advised of any consular rights. Mexican authorities report that they were first notified of his arrest about two weeks later when the Defendant himself called them from jail in Florida. Upon visiting him the next day, they observed that he exhibited obvious symptoms of mental illness. Since then, the Mexican Consulate has been actively involved in the case.

The Defendant was indicted on January 13, 1999, on two counts of first degree murder. He was tried by a jury on August 21-24, 2001, and he was found guilty as charged.

Prior to trial, the Defendant was found incompetent to proceed and committed to the state hospital¹ after a brief, uncontested hearing on May 18, 1999.² After about five weeks, the hospital staff requested that he be returned to the jail. ROA Vol. I 44-56. After a full adversarial hearing on November 9, 1999, the Court found that he was competent to stand trial. The Court again found the Defendant to be competent on August 20, 2001, the day before trial. ROA Vol. IV 4-126.

¹South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center in Miami. This facility has since changed hands.

²Motion to Determine Competency dated April 5, 1999, ROA Supp. Vol. I 1; transcript of hearing, ROA Vol. XII 1276; Order finding Defendant incompetent dated May 18, 1999, ROA Vol. I 37-39.

Also on that day, the Court entertained a number of other motions, including one to suppress the Defendant's statements due to a violation of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. Vienna Convention on Consular Relations and Optional Protocol on Disputes, Apr. 24, 1963, 21 U.S.T. 77, T.I.A.S. No. 6820 (hereinafter "VCCR"). The motion asserted as an independent ground that the Defendant's *Miranda*³ waiver was insufficient. ROA Vol. I 72-81. However, counsel declined to proceed on the motion because he felt that he had to show prejudice in order to proceed, and "[t]hat prejudice had to come from him [the Defendant]." ROA Vol. I 140. The prosecution elicited testimony from Police Chief Joe Chief Garcia, the officer in Texas who took the Defendant's statement, and the statement was eventually admitted in evidence.

The Defendant was uncooperative and often obstructive throughout the proceedings, to the point that he spent a significant portion of his trial viewing the proceedings over an audio/video feed after being removed from the courtroom. After the Public Defender was allowed to withdraw due to a conflict of interest, the Defendant was represented by two court appointed private attorneys, Daniel Hernandez and Charles J. Traina. Despite the Defendant's complaints, two *Nelson* hearings, and motions to withdraw or discharge counsel, they were ordered to

³*Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

represent him through jury selection. After the jury was sworn, the Court conducted a *Faretta* inquiry, discharged counsel (who remained on standby), and ordered the Defendant to represent himself. ROA Vol. VII 488-515.

On August 24, 2001, after both sides had rested, the Defendant submitted a written request for reappointment of counsel, which was granted. ROA Vol. IX 845-47. The Court also observed that the Defendant had previously refused to speak to representatives from the Mexican Consulate, who had nevertheless been present throughout the trial, that he had requested to speak to them that morning for the first time, and that they had conversed with him at some length. *Id.* 842-44. Following a recess, Mr. Traina reported that he had the first successful dialogue with his client since he had been appointed on the case. *Id.* 850. Counsel remained on the case for the remainder of the trial court proceedings.

The penalty phase on November 29, 2001 resulted in a recommendation of ten to two in favor of death on both counts. At a combined *Spencer* and sentencing hearing on April 30, 2002, the Court sentenced the Defendant to death.

The following claims were raised on direct appeal:

Issue One: The Court erred in finding the Defendant competent to stand trial.Issue Two: The Court erred in allowing the Defendant to proceed *pro se*.Issue Three: Denial of the Defendant's motion for a continuance after counsel was discharged.Issue Four: Denial of a PET scan.

Issue Five: Insufficient evidence of premeditation as to count one, the murder of Donna Berezovsky.

Issue Six: Lack of proportionality.

Issue Seven: Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional (*Ring* Claim).

All claims for relief were denied on the merits. *Hernandez-Alberto v. State*, 889 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 2004). A timely motion for rehearing was denied on December 10, 2004. Thereafter, the Defendant had ninety days in which to file a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court by operation of Sup. Ct. R. 13. However, the Defendant timely petitioned the Supreme Court for and received a sixty day extension of that time, until May 4, 2005.⁴

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(g) the Defendant filed a motion to vacate judgment and sentence along with a separate motion alleging that he was incompetent to proceed in capital collateral proceedings on March 10, 2006.

After appointing experts and a full press competency hearing, the Court found the defendant competent to proceed in postconviction by order dated June 3, 2008. A timely motion for reconsideration was denied on July 15, 2008. The Court's ruling was not reviewable by way of an interlocutory appeal. *Trepal v. State*, 754 So.2d 702 (Fla. 2000); Fla. R. App. P. 9.142 (b)(6); *Jeffries v. State*, SC 06-41 (petition for review dismissed without prejudice to raise on direct appeal).

⁴Ultimately, a petition for certiorari was not filed.

CCRC filed a fully pled, timely, but unverified, amended motion for postconviction relief ("Defendant's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence").⁵ The two orders currently being appealed from

⁵The second amended motion for postconviction relief contained the following claims:

CLAIM I: THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN THE ATTORNEY WHO REPRESENTED HIM AT HIS FIRST APPEARANCE HEARING FAILED TO ADVISE HIM OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE VIENNA CONVENTION ON CONSULAR RELATIONS.

CLAIM II: THE DEFENDANT HAS BEEN DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER ARTICLE 37 OF THE VCCR. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE DEFENDANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS ATTORNEYS FAILED TO RAISE AN ARTICLE 37 CLAIM

CLAIM III: THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE FIRST APPEARANCE COURT FAILED TO ADVISE HIM OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE VCCR.

CLAIM IV: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE DEFENDANT TO PROCEED PRO SE AT TRIAL. RELIEF IS WARRANTED DUE TO A NEW RULE OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW ANNOUNCED IN INDIANA V. EDWARDS.

CLAIM V: THE DEFENDANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN COUNSEL ABANDONED HIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS. SUBCLAIM: TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO SEEK ANY REMEDY FOR A VIOLATION OF THE VCCR OTHER THAN SUPPRESSION OF THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT.

CLAIM VI: THE DEFENDANT IS MENTALLY RETARDED AND EXECUTION IS BARRED.

CLAIM VII: THE DEFENDANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT AVAILABLE MITIGATION AND OTHERWISE CHALLENGE THE PROSECUTION'S CASE FOR THE DEATH SENTENCE. contain a summary of the case as it now stands. Their text is reproduced here.⁶

ORDER DISMISSING DEFENDANT'S SECOND AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE

CLAIM VIII: EXECUTION BY LETHAL INJECTION IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

CLAIM IX: THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT WILL BE VIOLATED AS THE DEFENDANT MAY BE INCOMPETENT AT TIME OF EXECUTION.

CLAIM X: THE DEFENDANT SUFFERED FROM A MAJOR MENTAL ILLNESS AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE AND EXECUTION IS BARRED.

PC-R Vol. IV 725-82 (April 2009). None of these claims has been adjudicated because the court dismissed the motion.

In *Bryant v. State*, 901 So.2d 810 (Fla.2005) this Court disapproved what in effect turned out to be a dismissal with prejudice because of pleading defects, but affirmed the lower court's alternative summary denial of the defendant's postconviction claims on the merits. There is no adjudication of the individual claims in this case either on the merits or otherwise. All of them assert violations of federal as well as state law.

⁶Attachments and footnotes omitted.

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendant's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence, filed through counsel on March 18, 2009. After reviewing Defendant's Motion, court file and the record, the Court finds as follows:

Procedural History

In May of 1999, Alphonso A. Saa, M.D. ("Dr. Saa") and Michael S. Maher, M.D. ("Dr. Maher") were appointed to examine Defendant and evaluate his competency to stand trial. Each expert found him disorganized in his train of thoughts, noted that his perception of reality did not appear intact and concluded that he was incompetent to proceed.

Defendant was committed to the South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center. Within ten days of his commitment the center's treatment team began developing the opinion that his conduct was willful. Defendant was transferred back to the Hillsborough County Jail and in July and August of 1999 he was reexamined by Dr. Saa and Dr. Maher. After their examinations, Dr. Saa found that although his clinical presentation was compatible with malingering, it was his opinion that Defendant was still not competent to proceed; however, Dr. Maher found that he was malingering and was competent to proceed.

In August 2001, just prior to Defendant's trial, Dr. Saa and Dr. Maher each evaluated Defendant for a third time. Dr. Saa stated that because Defendant was uncooperative, he was unable to give an opinion at that time regarding Defendant's competence. Dr. Maher noted that Defendant was initially uncooperative, but he eventually responded appropriately to his questions. After the examination, Dr. Maher formed the opinion that Defendant was competent to proceed. The Court concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial. See *Hernandez-Alberto v. State*, 889 So.2d 721, 726-727 (Fla. 2004).

On August 22, 2001, prior to opening statements, Defendant requested that his counsel be discharged. The trial court warned Defendant that substitute counsel would not be appointed and asked if he still wished to discharge counsel and represent himself. Defendant indicated that he would and after the Court conducted a Faretta inquiry, it discharged counsel and appointed standby counsel. See Hernandez-Alberto, 889 So.2d at 728-729. . . . Defendant proceeded to represent himself during the majority of the guilt portion of his trial; although prior to closing argument he moved for standby counsel to be reappointed, which the Court granted. Id. . . . On August 24, 2001, the jury found Defendant guilty of two counts of First Degree Murder... On November 29, 2001, a jury recommended the death penalty, and on May 28, 2002, the Court sentenced Defendant to death on each The Supreme Court of Florida subsequently count. affirmed Defendant's judgment and sentence. See Hernandez-Alberto, 889 So.2d at 721 (Fla. 2004).

On March 10, 2006, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (CCRC) filed an unverified Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence on Defendant's behalf, and on March 13, 2006, they filed a Motion for Competency Determination pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(g). The Court held a competency hearing on February 14, 2008, and on June 3, 2008, the Court found Defendant competent to proceed.

On July 28, 2008, the Court extended the time by sixty (60) days for the defense to file a facially sufficient motion that included an oath signed by Defendant verifying the truth and accuracy of the claims made in his motion as required by rule 3.851... But on October 27,

2008, at a status hearing, Defendant not only refused to verify the motion, he also requested that CCRC be discharged as counsel and that he be allowed to represent himself. After conducting a *Faretta* inquiry, the Court granted Defendant's request, discharged CCRC as counsel and appointed them as standby counsel. The postconviction motion previously filed by CCRC on Defendant's behalf was dismissed and on October 30, 2008, Defendant was given sixty (60) days to file his *pro se* postconviction motion.

On December 17, 2008, the Court extended by sixty (60) days the time which Defendant had to file his motion. However, on January 12, 2009, after interviewing Defendant, the Court concluded that although Defendant was competent to proceed, he was not competent to represent himself, and pursuant to Indiana v. Edwards, 128 S.Ct. 2379 (2008), the Court reappointed CCRC as defense counsel and gave them ninety (90) days to file an amended motion. On March 18, 2009, defense counsel filed their amended motion. On April 7, 2009, they filed a motion to extend the time to file a signed verification, and on April 27, 2009, the Court granted defense counsel's request. On June 1, 2009, defense counsel conceded that not only had Defendant not signed the verification but they did not anticipate that they would ever be able to convince him to sign one. On that date they also requested that Defendant be reevaluated to determine if he was still competent to proceed.

In an abundance of caution the Court granted the defense's request and ordered that Defendant be reevaluated. A competency hearing was held on June 3, 2010, and after hearing testimony from two experts, the Court again found Defendant competent to proceed.

A status hearing was then scheduled for July 29, 2010. At that hearing, defense counsel stated that Defendant still refused to verify the truth of the instant Motion.

Analysis and Ruling

A postconviction motion filed pursuant to rule 3.851 shall be under oath. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1). A motion filed without the required oath is facially insufficient and warrants dismissal without prejudice. See *Gorham v. State*, 494 So.2d 211 (Fla. 1986); *Groover v. State*, 703 So.2d 1035, 1038 (Fla. 1997).

In the instant case, Defendant has refused to verify the truth and accuracy, either orally or by a written verification, of the claims made in any of his postconviction motions filed by counsel.

Defense counsel has argued that because rule 3.851(g) mandates that when a defendant is found incompetent to proceed a court must still rule on the claims that do not require the defendant's input even if he has not verified the motion, that a verification is not necessary for the Court to rule on those claims that do not require Defendant's input in the instant case.

However, rule 3.851(e)(l) and the holdings of the Supreme Court of Florida make clear that an unverified motion is facially insufficient. See *Gorham*, 494 So.2d at 211; *Groover*, 703 So.2d at 1038. Furthermore, the plain meaning of 3.851(g) is that its exception to the oath requirement only applies when a defendant is found incompetent to proceed. Therefore because the Court found Defendant competent to proceed in the instant case, rule 3.851(g) is inapplicable.

Defense counsel also argues that the Court cannot dismiss Defendant's motion because rule 3.851(I) requires the Court to conduct a *Faretta* hearing to determine whether the defendant is knowingly, freely and voluntarily dismissing his pending postconviction proceedings, and in the instant case, Defendant has never stated that he wishes to dismiss his postconviction proceedings, he simply has refused to verify the truth of his postconviction motion. Using defense counsel's reading of 3.851(I), a defendant could theoretically hold postconviction proceedings in a continual abeyance by refusing to verify the truth of his motion, thus making the motion facially insufficient, but also stating that he does not wish to dismiss his postconviction proceedings. A better reading of the rule, and a reading that conforms to the Supreme Court of Florida's holdings in *Gorham* and *Groover*, is that rule 3.85 1(I) only applies once a facially sufficient postconviction motion is filed and that if a the motion is facially insufficient, as in the instant case, it must be dismissed without prejudice for the Defendant to file an amended facially sufficient motion.

Consequently, the Court is compelled to dismiss Defendant's Motion without prejudice for him to file an amended facially sufficient motion within sixty (60) days from the date of this order that includes a signed verification.

It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendant's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence is hereby DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE for Defendant to file an amended, facially sufficient motion which includes a signed verification, within sixty (60) days from the date of this order.

PC-R Vol. V 912-25.

The text of the final order dismissing the defendant's postconviction motion

with prejudice is as follows:

ORDER DISMISSING WITH PREJUDICE DEFENDANT'S SECOND AMENDED MOTION TO

VACATE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendant's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence, filed through counsel on March 18, 2009. After reviewing Defendant's Motion, court file and the record, the Court finds as follows:

On March 10, 2006, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (CCRC) filed an unverified Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence on Defendant's behalf, and on March 13, 2006, they filed a Motion for Competency Determination pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(g). The Court held a competency hearing on February 14, 2008, and on June 3, 2008, the Court found Defendant competent to proceed.

On July 28, 2008, the Court extended the time by sixty (60) days for the defense to file a facially sufficient motion that included an oath signed by Defendant verifying the truth and accuracy of the claims made in his motion as required by rule 3.851. But on October 27, 2008, at a status hearing, Defendant not only refused to verify the motion, he also requested that CCRC be discharged as counsel and that he be allowed to represent himself. After conducting a *Faretta* inquiry, the Court granted Defendant's request, discharged CCRC as counsel and appointed them as standby counsel. The postconviction motion previously filed by CCRC on Defendant's behalf was dismissed and on October 30, 2008, Defendant was given sixty (60) days to file his pro se postconviction motion.

On December 17, 2008, the Court extended by sixty (60) days the time which Defendant had to file his motion. However, on January 12, 2009, after interviewing Defendant, the Court concluded that although Defendant was competent to proceed, he was not competent to

represent himself, and pursuant to *Indiana v. Edwards*, 128 S.Ct. 2379 (2008), the Court reappointed CCRC as defense counsel and gave them ninety (90) days to file an amended motion.

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