IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PEDRO HERNANDEZ-ALBERTO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-2471 L.T. No. 99-00117 CFAWS

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the direct appeal record (SC02-1617) will be designated as follows: DAR followed by the appropriate volume number and record page or transcript page #.

References to the instant post-conviction record on appeal (SC10-2471), will be designated as PCR, followed by the appropriate Vol. #/page #.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Murders

In Hernandez-Alberto v. State, 889 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 2004), this Court set forth the following summary of the evidence presented at trial regarding the murders committed by Hernandez-Alberto in 1999 and his arrest in Texas, while *en route* to Mexico:

Pedro Hernandez-Alberto and Maria Gonzalez were married in 1996 after a courtship of several years. Maria had an adult son, Salvatore Gonzalez, an adult daughter, Isela Gonzalez, and a minor daughter, Donna Berezovsky. Hernandez-Alberto and Maria had one child together, Gabriella, who was an infant at the time of the homicides. Prior to and during their marriage, Maria lived with her children in her home in Apollo Beach, Florida, and she owned and operated a family business known as the Apollo Beach Family Restaurant.

On the morning of January 3, 1999, Hernandez-Alberto and Maria continued an ongoing argument about ownership of the home and business. Previously, Hernandez-Alberto insisted that Maria place his name on the title to the home and the business, which she had solely owned prior to their marriage. After continuing to deny his demands, Maria left the home to go to work at the restaurant. Upon her departure, Hernandez-Alberto put Gabriella in a back then confronted his bedroom and eleven-year-old stepdaughter, Donna, in the family room. He told Donna to pick up a toy. When she refused, he struck her on the head near the right ear, knocking her to the floor. He then removed a gun from his fanny pack and shot her as she lay face down. Donna died from the gunshot wound.

The medical examiner's testimony confirmed there was a contusion on Donna's face consistent with being struck with a hand. In addition, the autopsy indicated that the gunshot entered Donna's back, traveled through her spinal cord, aorta, lung, chest, and arm. The injuries were consistent with being shot while face down on the floor.

After shooting Donna, Hernandez-Alberto drove to the Apollo Beach Family Restaurant where Maria and Isela were working. Upon entering the back of the restaurant, Hernandez-Alberto went directly to the restroom where he remained for approximately eight to ten minutes. Upon exiting the rest-room, he walked up behind Isela and shot her twice in the back. After she fell to the floor, he then shot her once in the head.

The medical testimony indicates that a gunshot to Isela's lower back passed through her hip and intestines before exiting the front of her body. A gunshot higher on her back penetrated her lung, diaphragm, spleen, pituitary gland, kidney, pancreas and stomach before exiting her body. The third gunshot to her neck hit her spine, then went through her carotid artery and jugular vein.

After the shooting, Hernandez-Alberto left the restaurant with a gun in his hand, got into his car, and fled toward Mexico. He was arrested in Brookshire, Texas, a small town near Houston. He was interviewed by the Brookshire police chief, Joe Garcia, and he confessed to shooting and killing both Donna and Isela. At the time of his arrest, Hernandez-Alberto had a gun, which was later determined to be the murder weapon, in his possession. A fanny pack was also found in his possession.

Hernandez-Alberto, 889 So. 2d at 724.

Trial and Sentencing Proceedings

Hernandez-Alberto's trial, for the murders of his two stepdaughters was held on August 21 - August 24, 2001. (DAR V4-V9). The jury returned verdicts of guilty, as charged, on both counts of First-Degree Premeditated Murder. (DAR V2/317-318; V3/353; V9/925-927). The penalty phase was held on November 28-29, 2001; and the jury returned 10-2 death recommendations for each of the murders. (DAR V11/1261-1265).

After holding a $Spencer^1$ hearing on April 30, 2002 (DAR Supp. V3/278-282), the trial court sentenced Hernandez-Alberto to death

¹Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

on both counts on May 28, 2002.² (DAR V3/396-411).

²In *Hernandez-Alberto*, 889 So. 2d at 724-726, this Court summarized the aggravating factors and mitigating factors as follows:

The trial court found three aggravating circumstances for the murder of Donna Berezovsky, giving all three great weight: (1) the defendant had previously been convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use of violence to some person; (2) the victim of the capital felony was a person less than twelve years of age; and (3) the victim of the capital felony was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability or because the defendant stood in a position of familial or custodial authority over the victim. The trial court found two aggravating circumstances for the murder of Isela Gonzalez, giving both great weight: (1) the defendant had been previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use of violence to some person; and (2) the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner and without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The trial court considered the following statutory mitigating circumstances: (1)the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity (some weight); (2)the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was committed while he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (no weight); (3)the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (no weight); (4)the age of the defendant at the time of the crime (no weight); and (5)the existence of any other factors in the defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty (some weight). The trial court found the following nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1)the defendant suffers from a brain injury (little weight); (2)the defendant lost his mother at an early age (little weight); (3)the defendant suffered frequent beatings by his father when the father was drinking (some weight); (4) the defendant suffered beatings and mistreatment at the hands of the neighbor who took him in after the father abandoned the defendant (little weight); (5)the defendant trained and worked as an auxiliary police officer in Mexico City (little weight); (6)the defendant was capable when young of maintaining loving and respectful relationships (little weight); (7)the defendant lived in extreme poverty as a young child (no weight); (8)the defendant voluntarily provided a confession upon arrest (some weight); and (9)the defendant was of borderline intelligence (little weight).

Competency Proceedings at the Time of Trial

On April 19, 1999, the trial court issued an Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation seeking a determination from Drs. Michael Maher and Alfonso Saa as to whether Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial. (DAR V1/27-31). Dr. Maher's evaluation, dated May 7, 1999, concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was not competent to stand trial. While Hernandez-Alberto was somewhat uncooperative and his presentation and history were somewhat contradictory, Dr. Maher recommended evaluation and treatment in a secure forensic psychiatric hospital. Dr. Maher expected such treatment to restore Defendant to a level of competence within three to six months. (DAR V1/32-36).

Dr. Saa issued a report on May 3, 1999, concluding that Defendant was not competent to stand trial. Dr. Saa also questioned whether Defendant's current clinical presentation was a reflection of the stress he was facing or possible malingering. Dr. Saa concluded that involuntary hospitalization and further psychiatric treatment would help treat the Defendant's condition, as well as ascertain whether he was malingering. (DAR V1/40-43).

On May 18, 1999, relying on the evaluations of Drs. Maher and Saa, the trial court issued an Order Adjudging Defendant Incompetent to Stand Trial committing Defendant to the Department of Children and Families to be placed in a mental health facility. (DAR V1/37-39). On June 17, 1999, the South Florida Evaluation and

Treatment Center issued a competency evaluation finding Defendant had no major mental disorder, was competent to proceed, and was capable of assisting his attorney and acting appropriately in court. (DAR V1/44-45, 50-54). Letters dated June 24, 1999, from the treatment center confirmed the conclusion that Defendant was malingering, had no major mental illness and was competent to proceed. (DAR V1/46-47, 48-49).

After receiving the report of the treatment center finding Defendant to be a malingerer, the trial court issued a second Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation Return, seeking further examination of Hernandez-Alberto by Drs. Maher and Saa. (DAR V1/59-62).

On July 22, 1999, Dr. Saa submitted his evaluation. (DAR V1/68-71). Dr. Saa's clinical impression was that Defendant's presentation was more compatible with malingering rather than a clear mental infirmity, defect or disease. (DAR V1/70). However, Dr. Saa concluded that Defendant was not competent to stand trial based on legal criteria, while noting that his conclusions were colored by Defendant's likely malingering. (DAR V1/71).

On August 6, 1999, Dr. Maher concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial. (DAR V1/64-67). According to Dr. Maher,

The Defendant is engage[d] in an ongoing systematic pattern of deception in order to appear mentally impaired and incompetent. This pattern of behavior limits the opportunities to perform a thorough psychiatric assessment regarding more subtle or underlying impairments or limitations. However, his presentation, history and demeanor are sufficient to strongly support a conclusion of competency to proceed.

(DAR V1/64) (e.s.).

Dr. Maher also opined that, "...while [Defendant's] pattern of malingering [was] likely to continue, he [would], in all likelihood, remain competent throughout his legal proceedings." (DAR V1/67).

A competency hearing was conducted on November 9, 1999. (DAR V12/1285-1341). The trial court heard testimony from Drs. Maher and Saa, as well as Dr. Balzer from the treatment center where Defendant had been placed for five weeks. Dr. Saa concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was incompetent to stand trial. However, Dr. Saa also noted that Defendant's clinical condition was not consistent with a mental illness. If the defendant had the conditions that he was alleging to have, he would be very much impaired. Thus, Dr. Saa had concerns that Defendant was malingering. (DAR V12/1299).

Following his second evaluation, Dr. Maher concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial. (DAR V12/1306). According to Dr. Maher, Hernandez-Alberto was systematically and willfully evading and presenting a picture of himself that was not genuine for the purpose of avoiding legal circumstances. (DAR V12/1306-1307).

Dr. Balzer observed Hernandez-Alberto during his five weeks at the treatment center. (DAR V12/1321). The first indications of the

Defendant's malingering were his claimed memory problems. Hernandez-Alberto's memory deficits were selective and selfserving. (DAR V12/1322). Dr. Balzer and the treatment team ultimately concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial and was malingering. (DAR V12/1322-1323). Hernandez-Alberto suffered from no major psychiatric problems. (DAR V12/1324). The trial court found Hernandez-Alberto competent to stand trial. (DAR V12/1338-1340).

Later, in response to a request from defense counsel for appointment of a medical doctor to examine the Defendant, (DAR V1/94-96), the trial court appointed Dr. Arlene Martinez to evaluate and treat the Defendant. (DAR V1/97). On September 22, 2000, Dr. Martinez issued a report which found Hernandez-Alberto paranoid and psychotic and ordered medication as treatment. (DAR V1/38-102).

Defense counsel sought another competency determination; and, on August 9, 2001, the trial court issued an Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation Return, seeking a third examination of Hernandez-Alberto by Drs. Maher and Saa. (DAR V1/123-127). On August 13, 2001, Dr. Saa reported that the Defendant's failure to cooperate prevented him from rendering an opinion about Defendant's competence to stand trial. (DAR V2/279). However, this report also noted the findings of the in-house psychiatrist, Dr. Stoll, who also determined that Hernandez-Alberto

was malingering. (DAR V2/279). On August 15, 2001, Dr. Maher reported that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial. (DAR V2/280-283). On August 20, 2001, another competency hearing was held. As a result of the initial evaluations done by Drs. Maher and Saa, Hernandez-Alberto was hospitalized for five weeks. The psychiatric staff at the hospital concluded Hernandez-Alberto was malingering to frustrate the trial process and was competent to stand trial. (DAR V4/36).

In his second evaluation, Dr. Maher found Hernandez-Alberto competent. (DAR V4/37). This change was partially based on the observations at the hospital - Hernandez-Alberto functioned well and did not behave consistent with any major mental health problems. (DAR V4/37-38). In his third evaluation, Dr. Maher concluded that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to stand trial. (DAR Dr. Maher also observed Hernandez-Alberto's behavior in V4/39). According to Dr. Maher, Hernandez-Alberto's behavior court. supported a finding of competence, and the Defendant showed no signs of psychotic thought patterns. (DAR V4/40-42, 58). Dr. Maher believed that Hernandez-Alberto was still engaged in a pattern of deception. (DAR V4/42, 59). The possibility that Hernandez-Alberto might have a brain injury would be irrelevant to Dr. Maher's opinion of the defendant's competency to proceed. (DAR V4/75-76).

Dr. Saa found Hernandez-Alberto incompetent to stand trial, with a diagnosis of psychosis. (DAR V4/80). However, Dr. Saa noted

in the second report that, "My clinical impression is that the defendant's current clinical presentation is more compatible with malingering rather than a clear mental infirmity, disease or defect." (DAR V4/82). At the third evaluation, Hernandez-Alberto refused to talk to Dr. Saa. Therefore, Dr. Saa stated that he could not render an opinion as to the Defendant's competency. (DAR V4/84).

Dr. Robert Berland, a forensic psychologist, was hired by the defense to assist in preparation for the penalty phase. (DAR V4/87-88). Dr. Berland tried to see Hernandez-Alberto twice. On both occasions, Hernandez-Alberto refused to cooperate with any evaluation or discussion with Dr. Berland. (DAR V4/88-89). After reviewing the police reports, witness statements, medical records, an interview with the Texas authorities who arrested Defendant, and speaking with Dr. Martinez and the Defendant's cell mate, Dr. Berland could not form an opinion he could swear to with substantial psychological certainty. (DAR V4/89-91). Rather, Dr. Berland opined that some secondary evidence was consistent with a brain injury resulting in delusional paranoid thinking. (DAR V4/92-93). Dr. Berland admitted that his opinion did not rise to the level of a diagnosis of mental illness. (DAR V4/104). Ultimately, the trial court ruled that Hernandez-Alberto was competent to proceed at trial. (DAR V4/126).

After the jury verdict of guilt, the trial court again ordered

a competency evaluation, on September 5, 2001. (DAR V2/322-326). On November 19, 2001, the trial court heard testimony from the defense expert, Dr. Berland. Relying solely on an interview with the Defendant's ex-wife, the mother of the two murder victims, Dr. Berland opined that Defendant was incompetent. According to information that he obtained from the Defendant's ex-wife, not from any additional testing or interviews of Hernandez-Alberto, Dr. Berland opined that the Defendant was psychotic with paranoid delusional thinking. (DAR V12/1401-1405).

After hearing from Dr. Berland, the trial court reiterated the history of Hernandez-Alberto's competency determinations. Additionally, the trial court noted that Dr. Maher had an opportunity to observe the Defendant's behavior in the courtroom and, based upon these observations, felt that the Defendant was competent. In addition, the trial judge personally observed the Defendant behaving appropriately in court and conducting an adequate defense of himself. Based upon this information, the trial court found Defendant remained competent and could proceed to the penalty phase. (DAR V12/1407-1409).

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